STATE AND LOCAL FINANCE INITIATIVE



TECHNICAL DOCUMENTATION

What Everyone Should Know about Their State's Budget

Tracy Gordon January 2017 John Iselin





ABOUT THE URBAN INSTITUTE

The nonprofit Urban Institute is dedicated to elevating the debate on social and economic policy. For nearly five decades, Urban scholars have conducted research and offered evidence-based solutions that improve lives and strengthen communities across a rapidly urbanizing world. Their objective research helps expand opportunities for all, reduce hardship among the most vulnerable, and strengthen the effectiveness of the public sector.

Copyright © January 2017. Urban Institute. Permission is granted for reproduction of this file, with attribution to the Urban Institute. Cover photo via Shutterstock.

Contents

Contents	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Introduction	5
Approach	5
Total Spending and Payroll	7
Spending Categories	9
Elementary and Secondary Education (K–12)	9
Higher Education	9
Highways	10
Public Transit	11
Police	11
Corrections	11
Fire	12
Medicaid and CHIP	12
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families	13
Child Care and Development Fund	13
Housing and Community Development	14
Parks	14
Natural Resources	15
Utilities	15
Administration	15
Notes	17
About the Authors	21
Statement of Independence	22

Acknowledgments

This report was funded by the Laura and John Arnold Foundation. We are grateful to them and to all our funders, who make it possible for Urban to advance its mission.

The views expressed are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the Urban Institute, its trustees, or its funders. Funders do not determine research findings or the insights and recommendations of Urban experts. Further information on the Urban Institute's funding principles is available at www.urban.org/support.

We are also grateful to Urban Institute colleagues Linda Giannarelli, Ryan King, Jesse Jannetta, Akiva Liberman, Nisha Patel, Megan Randall, Kim Rueben, and Yifan Zhang for their comments and to Michael Marazzi, Sara Rosenthal, and John Wehmann for communications support. Paul Johnson, Sarah Minton, and Elissa Cohen graciously provided TRIM3 simulations. All remaining errors are our own.

Introduction

Our "What everyone should know about their state's budget" web tool explores why states vary in their revenues and public spending. It does so by applying a common framework to all major functional categories in state and local government budgets. The framework breaks spending per capita into different drivers that include policy choices about who is eligible for services and how much recipients get, as well as background conditions, such as the demographics and cost of living in a state.

This framework demonstrates that, although some spending drivers are within policymakers' control, others are not. For example, a state may spend more than average on K–12 education based on the number of school-age children in the population, a factor arguably beyond the control of any policymaker. Another state may spend less because a large share of its school-age children are enrolled in private school. These factors are largely uncontrollable but can make per capita spending look very different across states, even when spending per recipient—the amount a state spends for each child enrolled in public school, for example—may not vary much.

Yet policymakers are not fully beholden to demographics. They can control how many teachers will be hired and what teachers, administrators, counselors, and other education employees will be paid, although, in some cases, these decisions will depend on labor market conditions or what all employers (public and private) must pay to attract workers of a given education level in that state. In other cases, however, payroll costs will reflect policy determinations about the right amount of salary and wages.

The goal of this exercise is not to say whether a state is making good or bad budget and policy choices. Rather, it is to provide citizens and their elected representatives with information beyond the usual per capita comparisons so that they may engage in an active and informed conversation about what individuals want from state and local governments and how much they are willing to pay for it.

Approach

The United States is a large and diverse country, and the nation's 50 states reflect this breadth and diversity. Nevertheless, each state's taxes and spending can be broken down into the same basic factors. Tax collections are a base multiplied by a rate, and spending is how many people are receiving a good or service (caseloads) multiplied by the cost of serving each person.

Caseloads, in turn, reflect demographics, or how many people are potentially eligible for a public service; eligibility rules; and a participation rate, or how many choose to take up benefits or receive the service based on an individual choice or administrative determination. Similarly, spending per person served depends on costs (especially for labor) and service levels (or how many teachers, fire fighters, and administrators per person), as well as the interplay between those two factors.

More specifically, the basic framework is as follows:

	spending	_ recipients	spending	
	capita	capita	^ <u>recipient</u>	
re	ecipients capita =	eligible capita ×— (t	receipients eligible ake – up rate)	
eligible capita	= $rac{potentia}{ca}$ (demog	lly eligible pita graphics)	eligble × potentially elig (eligibility ro	gible 1te)
	spending receipient	$=rac{unit}{recipient}$	$\times \frac{spending}{unit}$	
	spending unit	$=\frac{payroll}{unit}+$	nonpayroll unit	

We define these terms as follows:

- Spending is total state and local spending (including federal funds) on the functional category in question.
- Recipients are individuals or families who receive the government program or service, such as public school pupils, public college and university students, and Medicaid beneficiaries.
- Eligible is the group that the government decides is able to receive the service or benefit; in some cases, such as public safety, the entire population is eligible because state and local governments do not exclude anyone from services.
- Potentially eligible (demographics) is the universe of people who could receive the service or benefit based on their demographic profile before the state sets eligibility rules.
- Units are the level of service or public good that the state or local government is providing, such as public school teachers or miles of roadway or public transit.

- Payroll is salaries and wages annualized to a full year based on the number of months in which workers in the category are typically employed (10 months for K-12 education, higher education, and natural resources; 12 months for all other categories).
- Nonpayroll is total spending minus payroll spending.

We also provide data on outcomes by functional category where available.

Total Spending and Payroll

For state and local government spending, we rely primarily on the US Census Bureau's Census of Governments Annual Survey of State and Local Government Finances for fiscal year 2012, as revised and released on October 23, 2015.¹ For state and local government employment and payroll, we draw from the US Census Bureau's Census of Governments Government Employment and Payroll survey for full-time equivalent employees in March 2012.²

We use the Census of Governments data because it is the most comprehensive, reliable, and timely data available for all 50 states and the District of Columbia. It applies uniform concepts and definitions to budgets and financial statements prepared by the more than 90,000 state and local governments in the United States to arrive at a consistent data source going back to the early 1950s. We rely on fiscal 2012 data because they are based on all states and localities rather than a sample of local governments as the data were in 2011, 2013, and 2014.

The Census of Governments data are organized by functional category rather than by program. Our analysis covers current expenditures (E), construction (F), and other capital outlays (G) in the following categories:³

- K-12 education
- Higher education
- Highways
- Public transit
- Police
- Corrections

- Fire
- Housing and community development (referred to as "housing" in our tool)
- Parks
- Natural resources
- Utilities (electricity, water, and gas)
- Government administration (referred to as "administration" in our tool)

However, we supplement Census of Governments data in the health and social services functional categories with administrative information on the following major programs:

- Medicaid and Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)
- Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF)
- Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF)

All total population data are taken from the US Census Bureau's midyear population estimates.⁴

Spending Categories

The following sections break down the decompositions and data sources for individual functional categories.

Elementary and Secondary Education (K-12)

For total spending, we focus on the Census of Governments functional category Elementary and Secondary Education (12). We also provide information on Other Education (21) and Libraries (52) in the Data Depot.

Our potentially eligible population includes all young people who could attend public school. For this calculation, we use census data on the population of each state between ages 5 and 18.⁵

There is no distinction between the eligible and potentially eligible population in our analysis because states do not restrict public school attendance. (There is also little variation in compulsory education laws or the ages at which states require children to be enrolled in school.)

Our measure of recipients reflects two take-up or participation decisions: children under age 19 who are enrolled in any school and pupils enrolled in public as opposed to private school.⁶ Note that the Census Bureau classifies homeschooled students as attending private schools.

Units of service are total employees in public elementary and secondary education. We do not break out instructional versus non-instructional employees, but these data are available in our Data Depot.

We also provide information on public school outcomes, specifically mathematics and reading scores on the National Assessment of Educational Progress for 4th and 8th graders in 2011 and 2013.⁷

Higher Education

Our total spending measure includes the Census Bureau functional categories Higher Education Auxiliary Enterprises (16), Higher Education – Other (18) and Student Assistance (J19). To reflect state support for higher education, we subtract student tuition and fees captured in the Census of Governments functional category Higher Education – Other Charges (A18).

The potentially eligible population is all 18- to 24-year-olds in a state plus net migration between states.⁸ The eligible population is the same as the potentially eligible population for our purposes, although colleges and universities certainly impose their own selection criteria.

As in K-12 education, we consider two take-up decisions: whether to attend any institution of higher education and whether to attend a public versus a private college or university.⁹ We also provide data on two- versus four-year enrollments in our Data Depot.

Our units of service are total employees in public higher education. Data on instructional versus noninstructional employees are also available in our Data Depot, as are data on outcomes or degrees conferred by postsecondary institutions.¹⁰

Highways

Our analysis relies on the Regular Highways (44) and Toll Highways (45) Census Bureau functional categories. As in higher education, we subtract charges (A44 and A45) from both categories.

The potentially eligible population in this category is the population over driving age in a given state.¹¹

The eligible population is the number of people over legal driving age with driver's licenses from that state.¹² It is worth noting however, that this does not account for individuals who live in one state with a license from another.

Recipients are vehicle miles traveled, a measure of how many miles individuals have driven in total over the highways in the state. The number of miles each driver chooses to drive is the take-up rate.¹³ Units of service provided are vehicle lane miles.¹⁴ We also have data on highway employees in our Data Depot.

Our outcome is traffic congestion in major metropolitan areas as calculated by the Texas A&M Transportation Institute.¹⁵

Public Transit

Our analysis focuses on the Census of Governments functional category Transit Utilities (97) net of user charges (A95). The potentially eligible and eligible populations are unlinked passenger trips, or the number of individual trips on transit.¹⁶ Recipients are total passenger miles.¹⁷ Units of service are transit way miles, or the miles of public transportation route in a state (either bus or train).¹⁸ We also have data on transit employees in our Data Depot.

Police

Analysis in this section includes the Census of Governments functional category Police Protection (62). The potentially eligible population is the same as the eligible population, which is the total population of a state.

Recipients of police services are proxied by the crime rate.¹⁹ We consider eight felony "index offenses" (murder, rape robbery, aggravated assault, burglary, larceny/theft, motor vehicle theft, and arson).²⁰ Units of service are the number of police employees. We also provide information on sworn officers (with powers of arrest) versus nonsworn employees for comparison in our Data Depot.

Corrections

We include the Census of Governments functional categories Correctional Institutions (04) and Other Corrections (05) in our analysis. These codes capture spending on state prisons, local jails, youth correctional facilities, and probation and parole programs. As with police, the potentially eligible and eligible populations include all persons residing in a state.

Recipients are all people under correctional control, including prison and jail inmates, parolees, and people on probation in a state.²¹ Units of service are the number of employees of the correctional system. Outcomes are measures of crowding in state correctional facilities. To obtain these measures, we considered the custody population, or the population physically in a prison or jail, in each state as a percentage of its operational capacity measure, or the number of inmates deemed appropriate based on staffing and services.²²

Fire

Our analysis focuses on the Census of Governments functional category Local Fire Protection (24). This category excludes state forest-fire protection and suppression because these activities fall under the Census Bureau's natural resources functional category. As with police and corrections, the potentially eligible and eligible populations are the entire population of the state because no one is excluded from receiving this service. Employees are the relevant unit of service. We also provide information on firefighters versus nonfirefighters for comparison in our Data Depot.

Medicaid and CHIP

Our Medicaid spending data are from the Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission based on data submitted to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services through Form CMS-64.²³ Although data by enrollment group are available in our Data Depot, we focus on total spending for the analysis.²⁴ Our spending data are from fiscal year 2011; no 2012 data were available because of a data problem cited on the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services's website.²⁵ These expenditure figures account for all Medicaid expenditures for both institutionalized and noninstitutionalized populations.²⁶

The potentially eligible population is the noninstitutionalized population under 200 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL). Potentially eligible population and eligible population estimates come from the Transfer Income Model, version 3 (TRIM3), a microsimulation model designed to simulate major tax, transfer, and health programs.²⁷ We use a two-year average (2010–11) to reduce margins of error while maintaining a link to our fiscal year, 2011. These numbers are only estimates, however, and they have a margin of error, especially in small states. This is because the distribution of characteristics that determine eligibility may not be the same in the sampled population as in the state. This may affect state rankings.

Our recipient data are based on administrative data for calendar year 2010. However, the administrative data were adjusted under the TRIM3 project to exclude people in institutions and to exclude people who are not eligible for full-scope coverage, for consistency with the TRIM3 eligibility estimates. Both the eligibility and recipient figures refer to the "average month" of the year.

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families

Expenditure data come from the US Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and include total assistance and nonassistance expenditures, based on federal TANF spending and state maintenance-of-effort expenditures. The data exclude transfers from TANF to CCDF and state CCDF maintenance-of-effort spending (because these are captured in our CCDF data). They also exclude solely state-funded benefits. The exclusion of solely state-funded benefits means that some states may have more generous state-funding spending programs than reflected in our data.²⁸

Our potentially eligible population is noninstitutionalized persons in a family with one or more related children under age 18 with family incomes less than 200 percent of FPL.²⁹ Eligible population estimates again come from TRIM3. The eligibility counts include families who are eligible for regular monthly cash aid from either federal TANF funds or a state-funded program; the eligibility figures do not include families eligible for only a small "worker supplement" benefit. We use an average of data for calendar year 2011 and calendar year 2012 to approximate fiscal year 2012 and to minimize margin of error in these estimates. However, it is important to note that eligibility numbers are only estimates, and they have a margin of error. This may affect state rankings.

The recipient figures are based on administrative data and do not include families whose benefits are paid for by a solely state-funded program, because those statistics are not collected at the federal level; thus, to the extent that states have a solely state-funded program, participation rates will be understated. Both the eligibility and recipiency data reflect the "average month" of the year.

Child Care and Development Fund

Expenditure data are from HHS and include TANF transfers. Our expenditure data are the sum of the state numbers provided for mandatory, matching, discretionary and maintenance-of-effort spending.³⁰

Our potentially eligible population is noninstitutionalized persons in a family with one or more related children under age 18 with family income less than 200 percent of FPL.³¹ The data are based on the two-year average from 2011 and 2012 and exclude the institutionalized population.

We constructed the eligible population category based on TRIM3 estimates of state-level eligibility. The eligibility estimates reflect whether families appear to satisfy the technical criteria for eligibility (based on age of children, parent employment or student status, and income); some families identified as eligible may not want to use nonparental child care. We use average eligibility data for calendar year 2011 and calendar year 2012 to approximate fiscal year 2012 and to minimize margin of error in these estimates. These numbers are only estimates, however, and they have a margin of error. This may affect state rankings.

Recipient data are from the program's administrative data. Units in this area are the total number of child care providers receiving CCDF funds according to HHS data.³² As with the Medicaid and TANF data, the CCDF eligibility and recipient data are average monthly counts.

Housing and Community Development

Expenditure data are from the US Census of Governments Housing and Community Development (50) function and encompass all spending on public housing, rental assistance, and homeownership promotion as well as urban renewal, rural redevelopment, and commercial area revitalization. The potentially eligible population includes households below 30 percent and between 30 and 50 percent of area median income, corresponding to "extremely low" and "very low" income eligibility criteria for federal housing assistance.³³ There is no eligible category given the lack of information on state-specific eligibility rules.

Recipients are individuals receiving state or federal public housing assistance either through rental assistance or public housing.³⁴ Although we would like to obtain data on state program recipients only, these data are not available. But given that federal intergovernmental revenues constitute 75 percent of total state and local spending in this area, federal eligibility criteria provide a reasonable approximation of who is receiving state programs. Units of service are employees per capita.

Parks

Expenditures in this area come from the Census of Governments functional category Parks and Recreation (61). As in the public safety categories, we consider the entire state population to be potentially eligible and eligible for services as well as recipients of services. Units of service are employees per capita.

Natural Resources

Expenditures data come from the Census of Governments functional category Other Natural Resources (59). In previous years, four codes spanned the natural resource function: Agriculture (54), Fish and Game (55), Forestry (56), and Other Natural Resources (59). By 2012, however, the US Census Bureau condensed them down to just one. As for the public safety categories, we consider the entire state population to be potentially eligible and eligible for services. Population is also the relevant measure of recipients.

Utilities

We present expenditure data separately for the Census of Governments functional categories Sewerage (80), Solid Waste Management (81), Water Supply (91), Electric Supply (92) and Gas Supply (93). In each category, spending includes outlays for the purchase or construction of utility facilities, interest on utility debt, and production or acquisition and distribution of goods and services to the general public or other governments.

As for higher education and highways, we subtract charges (A) from each category. All three of the categories in the recipient decomposition, as in natural resources, are the population of the state, and employees per capita are the units of service.

Note that states with zero or very low spending, charges, and employees for utilities may lack major public utilities, perhaps relying on private companies instead. Anomalies in the way states report data to the Census Bureau could also affect counts.

When decomposing spending into payroll and nonpayroll, we subtract fees or charges from nonpayroll spending even though many states may use revenue to pay for employee costs. We do this to show payroll spending by state.

Administration

Expenditure data come from the Census of Governments functional categories Other (03, 30, 89) and General Government (23, 25, 26, 29, 31). As for utilities, we consider potentially eligible and eligible

populations as well as recipients to be the whole state population and employees per capita to be units of service.

For outcomes of administration, we consider Gallup 2013 Trust in Government figures.³⁵

Notes

- US Census Bureau, 2012 Census of Governments: State and Local Finances, "State by Type of Government Public Use Format," accessed February 16, 2016, http://www.census.gov/govs/local/historical_data_2012.html. These data are also available for 1977 to 2014 at the State & Local Government Finance Data Query System. http://slfdqs.taxpolicycenter.org/.
- See the "All Downloadable Data" file at "2012 Census of Governments: Employment," US Census Bureau, Government Employment & Payroll, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.census.gov/govs/apes/historical_data_2012.html.
- 3. The US Census Bureau's Census of Governments classifies expenditures by government organization function (for example, Elementary and Secondary Education) and attaches a code to that category (for Elementary and Secondary Education the code is 12). Before the "12," the Census of Governments places any one of a number of letters, representing the type of expenditure being discussed (E12 represents current operations expenditures on Elementary and Secondary Education; F12 is Construction). For more information, see US Bureau of the Census, *Government Finance and Employment Classification Manual* (Washington, DC: US Bureau of the Census, 2006), http://www2.census.gov/govs/pubs/classification/2006_classification_manual.pdf.
- 4. See Table SA1, "Personal Income Summary: Personal Income, Population, Per Capita Personal Income," at "Regional Economic Accounts," Bureau of Economic Analysis, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.bea.gov/regional/.
- US Census, American Community Survey 2012, via the American Factfinder. PEPSYASEX: Annual Estimates of the Resident Population by Single Year of Age and Sex for the United States, States, and Puerto Rico Commonwealth. See "American Community Survey," US Bureau of the Census, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/data.html.
- 6. US Census, American Community Survey 2012, via the American Factfinder. B14002: Public and Private School Enrollment. See "American Community Survey," US Bureau of the Census, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/data.html.
- See Table 221.40, Table 221.60, Table 223.50, and Table 223.60 at "Digest of Education Statistics," US Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, accessed January 10, 2017, https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/2014menu_tables.asp.
- 8. US Census, American Community Survey 2012, via the American Factfinder. PEPSYASEX: Annual Estimates of the Resident Population by Single Year of Age and Sex for the United States, States, and Puerto Rico Commonwealth. See "American Community Survey," US Bureau of the Census, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/data.html. See also table 309.10, "Residents and Migration," at "Digest of Education Statistics," US Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, accessed January 10, 2017, https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/2013menu_tables.asp.
- 9. US Department of Education, NCES Digest of Education Statistics 2013. Tables 304.10: Total fall enrollment in degree-granting postsecondary institutions, by state or jurisdiction and 304.15: Total fall enrollment in public degree-granting postsecondary institutions, by state or jurisdiction. See "Digest of Education Statistics," US Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, accessed January 10, 2017, https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/2013menu_tables.asp.
- 10. US Department of Education, NCES Digest of Education Statistics 2013. Table 319.20: Degrees conferred by postsecondary institutions, by level of degree and state or jurisdiction. See "Digest of Education Statistics," US Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, accessed January 10, 2017, https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/2013menu_tables.asp.

- 11. US Census, American Community Survey 2012, via the American Factfinder. PEPSYASEX: Annual Estimates of the Resident Population by Single Year of Age and Sex for the United States, States, and Puerto Rico Commonwealth. See "American Community Survey," US Bureau of the Census, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/data.html.
- 12. Table 6.3.3, "Licensed Drivers, by State, sex, and age group," at "Highway Statistics 2012," Federal Highway Administration, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/policyinformation/statistics/2012/.
- 13. Table 5.4.1, "Vehicle-miles of travel, by functional system," at "Highway Statistics 2012," Federal Highway Administration, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/policyinformation/statistics/2012/.
- 14. Table 4.4.1.2, "Length by functional system," at "Highway Statistics 2012," Federal Highway Administration, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/policyinformation/statistics/2012/.
- 15. See "Excel spreadsheet 101 Urban Areas," at "2015 Annual Urban Mobility Scorecard," Texas A&M Transportation Institute, accessed January 10, 2017, http://mobility.tamu.edu/ums/.
- 16. This means that taking one bus or train then transferring to another would add two unlinked passenger trips. National Transit Data, Annual Databases, 2012. "2012_Service," "Unl_Pass_Trips_Num." See "the National Transit Database," Federal Transit Administration, last updated December 13, 2016, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.ntdprogram.gov/ntdprogram/data.htm.
- 17. National Transit Data, Annual Databases, 2012. "2012_Service," "Passenger_Miles_Num." See "the National Transit Database," Federal Transit Administration, last updated December 13, 2016, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.ntdprogram.gov/ntdprogram/data.htm.
- National Transit Data, Annual Databases, 2012. "2012_Transit_Way_Mileage," "R_Total_Miles" + "NR_Total_Miles" + "Mixed_Row_Num." See "the National Transit Database," Federal Transit Administration, last updated December 13, 2016, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.ntdprogram.gov/ntdprogram/data.htm.
- Table 5, "Crime in the United States by State," Federal Bureau of Investigation: Uniform Crime Reports, Crime in the United States 2012, accessed January 10, 2017, https://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cjis/ucr/crime-in-theu.s/2012/crime-in-the-u.s.-2012.
- 20. Uniform Crime Reports are self-reported data from local police departments; each report may use different definitions and reporting conventions. See Michael D. Maltz and Harald E. Weiss, *Creating a UCR Utility* (Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, 2006), https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/215341.pdf.
- Appendix Table 2, "Adults on probation, 2012" and Appendix Table 4, "Adults on parole, 2012," of Laura M. Maruschak and Thomas P. Bonczar, "Probation and Parole in the United States, 2012" (Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, 2013), https://csgjusticecenter.org/corrections/publications/probation-and-parole-inthe-united-states-2012/; and Dataset 3, "Year-end population," at "National Corrections Reporting Program, 2000-2013: Selected Variables (ICPSR 36285)," National Archive of Criminal Justice Data, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.icpsr.umich.edu/icpsrweb/NACJD/studies/36285.
- See Appendix Table 9, "Prison facility capacity, custody population, and percent capacity, December 31, 2012," from E. Ann Carson and Daniela Golinelli, *Prisoners in 2012: Trends in Admissions and Releases*, 1991-2012, (Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2013). Revised September 2, 2014. http://www.bjs.gov/index.cfm?ty=pbdetail&iid=4842.
- 23. See Tables 6 and 8 of Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, Medicaid and CHIP Program Statistics: March 2012 MACStats (Washington, DC: Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, n.d.), https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/March-2012-MACStats.pdf.
- 24. "Medicaid Spending by Enrollment Group: FY2011," Kaiser Family Foundation State Health Facts, accessed January 10, 2017, http://kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/medicaid-spending-by-enrollment-group/.

- 25. Enrollment groups are the aged (age 65 and older), disabled (people under 65 reported as eligible because of a disability), adults (ages 19 to 64), and children (age 18 and younger, with a few 19-year-olds based on state programs). Disabled children are in the disabled group, and disabled elderly are in the elderly group. Florida, Kansas, Maine, Maryland, Montana, New Mexico, New Jersey, Oklahoma, Texas, and Utah provide only 2010 data adjusted to 2011 spending levels.
- 26. The institutionalized population is defined by the US Census Bureau as, "People who are primarily ineligible, unable, or unlikely to participate in the labor force while residents of institutional group quarters. The institutionalized population is persons residing in institutional group quarters such as adult correctional facilities, juvenile facilities, skilled-nursing facilities, and other institutional facilities such as mental (psychiatric) hospitals and in-patient hospice facilities." See "Institutionalized Population," American FactFinder, accessed January 10, 2017, http://factfinder.census.gov/help/en/institutionalized_population.htm.
- 27. See the Transfer Income Model, version 3 website at http://trim3.urban.org/T3Welcome.php.
- 28. "TANF Financial Data FY 2012," Office of Family Assistance, accessed June 13, 2016, http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ofa/resource/tanf-financial-data-fy-2012.
- 29. Related children in a family include own children and all other children under 18 years old in the household who are related to the householder by birth, marriage, or adoption. The count reflects a summation of persons in all family types, including primary and subfamilies. This is a broader definition of "family" than is generally used for eligibility purposes. However, it reflects all persons in a household who could benefit from additional resources. "CPS Table Creator," US Bureau of the Census, Current Population Survey Annual Social and Economic Supplement, 2011–12 (Two-Year Average), accessed June 24, 2016, http://www.census.gov/cps/data/cpstablecreator.html.
- 30. "FY 2012 CCCDF State Expenditure Data," US Department of Health and Human Service, Office of the Administration for Children and Families, Office of Family Assistance, published September 30, 2012, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/occ/resource/fy-2012-ccdf-state-expendituredata. For more information, see Karen E. Lynch, *Trends in Child Care Spending from the CCDF and TANF* (Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, 2016), https://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R44528.pdf.
- 31. Although childcare subsidies generally only go to children under 13 years of age, older children with special needs may also use child care. Related children in a family include own children and all other children under 18 years old in the household who are related to the householder by birth, marriage, or adoption. The count reflects a summation of persons in all family types, including primary and subfamilies. This is a broader definition of "family" than is generally used for eligibility purposes. However, it reflects all persons in a household who could benefit from additional resources. "CPS Table Creator," US Bureau of the Census, Current Population Survey Annual Social and Economic Supplement, 2011–12 (Two-Year Average), accessed June 24, 2016, http://www.census.gov/cps/data/cpstablecreator.html.
- 32. We use this broad definition of potential eligibility even though the program has a statutory limit of 85 percent of state median income and parents or guardians generally have to be working, in school, or looking for work. "FY 2012 Final Data Table 7 – Number of Child Care Providers Receiving CCDF Funds," US Department of Health and Human Services Department, Office of the Administration for Children and Families, Office of Family Assistance, published October 8, 2014, accessed January 10, 2017, http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/occ/resource/fy-2012-ccdf-data-tables-final-table-7.
- 33. Data from the Urban Institute's Housing Finance Policy Center. The data are counts of renter households in each county for the three single-year ACS files (2011-2013). These data include each household's percent of area median income (AMI), a measure used by HUD to account for income relative to the median income in an area. We count the number of households who make less than 50 percent of AMI, divided into "very low", or 31 percent to 50 percent, and "extremely low", who make between 0 and 30 percent of AMI. For the full data used by the Housing Finance Policy Center, see http://www2.census.gov/acs2013_3yr/pums/.

- 34. Integrated Public Use Microdata Series, Current Population Survey: 2011 2013 Averages: Individuals in public housing (pubhous) and individuals receiving rental assistance (rentsub). https://cps.ipums.org/cps/.
- 35. Jeffrey M. Jones, "Illinois Residents Least Trusting of Their State Government," *Gallup*, April 4, 2014, accessed June 24, 2016, http://www.gallup.com/poll/168251/illinois-residents-least-trusting-state-government.aspx.

About the Authors



Tracy Gordon is a senior fellow with the Urban-Brookings Tax Policy Center, where she researches and writes about fiscal challenges facing state and local governments, including budget tradeoffs, intergovernmental relations, and long-term sustainability. Before joining the Urban Institute, Gordon served as a senior economist with the White House Council of Economic Advisers. She was also a member of the District of Columbia Tax Revision Commission, a fellow at the Brookings Institution, an assistant professor at the Maryland School of Public Policy, and a fellow at the Public Policy Institute of California.



John Iselin is a research associate at the Urban-Brookings Tax Policy Center. His work at TPC has focused on the economic consequences of tax policy, including the taxation of sugar sweetened beverages. He also works with the State and Local Finance initiative on modeling state income taxes and analyzing state budgets. Prior to joining TPC, Iselin completed his BA in Economics from Reed College.

STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCE

The Urban Institute strives to meet the highest standards of integrity and quality in its research and analyses and in the evidence-based policy recommendations offered by its researchers and experts. We believe that operating consistent with the values of independence, rigor, and transparency is essential to maintaining those standards. As an organization, the Urban Institute does not take positions on issues, but it does empower and support its experts in sharing their own evidence-based views and policy recommendations that have been shaped by scholarship. Funders do not determine our research findings or the insights and recommendations of our experts. Urban scholars and experts are expected to be objective and follow the evidence wherever it may lead.

2100 M Street NW Washington, DC 20037

• E L E V A T E • T H E

www.urban.org

U

NST

- 22

1.

1.0

. *

1

. .

11

1

1.0

- 12

1

.

۰.

.

.

12

20

.

10

.

.

.

.

· DEBATE